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. IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF VIRGINIA

CLERK, MOND, VA Richmond Division
‘RICH Richmon 1V1S10 0 e 20 P 3 4
IscoMoNTURTIS )L CLncls R
O ’ ) ChﬂrﬁLza Cﬂ7£“/ﬂ591 RGIKIA
Plaintff, ) .
)  (Under Temporary Seal pursuant to Order
V. ) dated: _ )
' )
FOREFRONT INVESTMENTS CORP., )
d/b/a/ CFG TRADER, )
: : )
Defendant. )
)

- COMPLAINT FOR INJUNCTIVE AND OTHER EQUITABLE RELIEF,
AND A CIVIL MON'ETARY PENALTY

1. JURISDICTION AND VENUE
: 1; ’I'he' Cormmodity Exchange Act, as amended, 7U.S.C § 1 et seq. (2001) (thle “Act™),
establishes a comprehensivé system for regulating commoditjr futures contracts and options on
comﬁnodity fumres contracts and those who are r_eéistrénts pursuant to the Act. “This Court has
jurisdiction over this action pﬁmmt to Sec’ci;n 6c of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 13a-1 (20-01),. which.
authorizes the Commodity Futures Trading éommjssion (“Commission”) to seek injunctive
relief against any person or entity whenever it shall appear to the C;)mmission that such .person or
_enﬁty has engaged, is enga.giﬁg, or is about to engage in any act or practice constituting a
violation of any f;rovisiOn of the Act 'or any Commission rule, regulation or order.
2. Venue i:roperly lies with the Court pursuant to Section 6¢ of the Act, in that the
Defendant is found in, inhabits, or transacts business in this district, gnd the acts and practices in

violation of the Act occurred, are occurring, or are about to occur within this district.
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1L SUMMARY

3 Defendant Forefront Investments Corp (“Foreﬁo ™), 2 registered futures commission

» merchant (“FCM”), solicits and accepts customer funds in the fbreign currency market.
Porefront is a member of the National Futm'es Association (“NEA™). ‘Forefront offers its retail
customers the opportunity to speculate on forejgn currency trading. Forefront acted, or purported
1o act, as a counterparty to each trade entered into by its custorpers. Asa reg15tere§ FCM,
Forefront is required to meet minimum capitalization requirements. See 17 CER. 1.17(a)(1)
(2006). -
4, | As of January 31, 2007, and p.erhaps earlier, Forefront’s net capitalizhﬁqn was below the
adjusted pet capital required by the Act and Commiésion Regulation 1.17(2). Or'x March 9, 2007,
T.he NFA notiﬁed Foreﬁ'ont that it had failed to meet its m:nunum net capitai requirements as of |
January 31, 2007 and directed Forefront to submit updated ﬁnancml statements to the NFA by
close of busmcss March 13, 2007. As of March 19, 2007, Forefront’s adjusted net cap1ta11zat1on
remamed be]ow the adjusted net capital requu'ed by the Act and Commission Regulation
1.17(a)(1). Specifically, as of March 19, 2007, Foreﬁ'ont’s tota] liabilities were §8,000,000 while
its assets were only $6,760,000.: Since Forefront’s ]iabilities exceed its assets, it necessarily fgu'ls
o meet the minimum capitalization requirements. Moreover, Forefront has failed to maix.ltai_n |
books and records that it is required to maintain vpm'sua'nt to éommiﬁsion Regulation 1.18.
5. Accordingly, the Con:u:mssmn brings this action pursuant to Section 6c of the Act, 7
U.S.C. § 13a-1, to enjoin Defendant's unlawful acts and practlces a.nd to compel its compliance
with the Act. In addition, the Commission seeks disgorgement of Defendant 3 xll-gotten gains,

restitution to investors for damages proximately caused by Defendant’s violations, civil
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monetary penalties and such oﬁaer relief as this Court may deem necessary and épprdpﬁate. _
6. | Unless restrained and enjoined by this Court, Defendant is likely to. cox;'m'nue to engagein -
the acts and practices alleged in this éompléxiﬁt and similar acts and practices, as more fully
described below. |

ITI. THE PARTIES
A.  Plaintiff '

7. The U.S.' Commodity Futures Trading Commission is an independent federal ‘reg'u.latory
agency chérged with the responsibility for administering and enforcing the provjsions of the Act,
7 U.S.C. §§ 1 et seq. (2001), and the Reg\ala;:ions promulgated under it, 17 .C.F.R; §§ 1 et seq. .

(2006). The Commission maintains its principal office at Threé Lafayette Centre, 1 155.2_1st
Street, NW, Washington, D.C. 20581. ' |
B.  Defendant
8. Foreﬂoﬂt Tnvestmenlts Corp. is an Nllinois corporation whose principal place of business is
located at 200 chs:'tgat_e Parkway, Suite 104, Richmond Virginia 23233. Fore%&pnt commenced
operations in August 2003 and uses the name CFG Trader. It was previously named QIX
Futures Inc. On No.vembtlax-' 2'0, 2003, Forefront became regiéteréci asa FCM with the
Comumission. Forefront is also a member of the NFA. - |

N.'F.Aéré
9. Since it began operaﬁons; F or_eﬁ'ont ac.ted as 2 FCM and solicited customers to trade
foreign currency transactions (“forex™). Customers enter into open fore:é poéiﬁoné in which
F orefrént acts as the counterparty to the trades. |

10. Pursuant to Section 4f(b) of the Act and Commission Regulation 1. 17(a)(1), Forefront is

3~
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" required to majntain at least a minimum amount of adjusted net capital to operate as a FCM.
According to Commission Regulation 1.17 (c)(l), “pet capital” means the amount by which

| current assets exceed lizbilities. Because Forefront is a member of the NFA, it must meet the

. minimal adjusted net capital required by the NFA. See 17 CFR. § 1.17(2)(1)(C) (2006). The
NFA requu-es a minimum net capltal of 81, 000 000. |
11. On Marc,h 9, 2007, the NFA notlﬁcd F oreﬁont that it had faﬂed to meet its minimum net
cap1tal requuements as of .T anuary 31, 2007 and d:rected Forefront to submit updated financial

" statements to the NFA. by close of busmess March 13, 2007.

.12. On March 15,2007, the NFA obtained a balance sheet from Foreﬁ'ont dated March 14,

_ 2007 that records Forefront’s current assets at approximately $6,760,000 and lisbilities at
approximately $8,000,000, resulting in a deficit of approximately $},240,060. It appears that at
least one of the reasdn_s for the deficit is that ¥ orefront awarded vits employees significant bonuse_s _
at the end of 2006. | |
13.  SioceF o'reﬁ'ont is carrying a deficit of 81, 240 000, and NFA’s minimuth aﬂjusted net
cap]tal requirement is $1,000,000, Forefmnt is currcntly undercap1tahzed by 32, 240 000. On
March 15, 2007, the NFA directed Forefront to saﬂsfy its minimum capitalization reqmrement by

' infusing-at least $3,000,000 into its operations by noon March 16, 2007 and to provide evidence
of such. As to date, Forefront has neither .complied with NFA’s direction nor satisfied its
capitalization requirements.

14.  Pursuant to Commission Regulation 1.1 7(2)(4), a FCM who fails to meet its adjusted net
capital requirements must transfer all customer accounts, provided that such registrant may trade

for liquidation purposes. Forefront has not transferred its customer accounts, por is its trading

—4-
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limited to liquidation pu:-poses

15. In addmon to fallmg to sausfy its net capmhzanon requirements and transfer its customer
accounts, Foreﬁ'ont has failed to maintain books and records of its business transactions as
required by Conumission Regulation 1.18. 17 C.F.R. § 1.18 (2006). Specifically, Iforefror_ﬂ is
required to maintain current ledgers that reflect its assets, liabilities, and capital. Id. In violation
of this provision, Foreﬁron_t has 'n'ot maintained current ledgers that rgﬂgci all customers’
positions as both assets and as liabilities. | |
V. VIOLATIONS OF THE COMMODITY EXCHANGE ACT
| COUNT ONE:
VIOLATIONS OF SECTION 4£(b) OF THE ACT
AND COMMISSION REGULATIONS 1.17(2)(1)(C) and 1.17(a)(4):
- FAILURE TO MAINTAIN REQUIRED MINIMUM ADJUSTED NET
CAPITAL AND OPERATING WHILE UNDERCAPITALIZED

16. The allegations set forth in paragraphs 1 through 15 are re-alleged and incorporated
herein by reference. | - _ | -

17.  From at least November 2003 and perhaps as early as August 2003, .Forefront has
op.e,rated as a counterparty to customers trading forex. Since at Jeast March 15, 2007, and
.'perhap's as early as January 31, 2007, Defendant Forefront has failed to satisfy its minimum
adjusted net capital rqquireme‘nts for FCMs registered with the Commission and mcmi:ers of the
NFA. in violation of Section 4f{b) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 61(b) (2002) and Commission
Regulation Section 1.17(2)(1)(C), 17 C.F.R. § 1.17(a)(1).(C) (2006)..

18.  Since at least March 15, 2007, and p&rhaps.as early as January 31, 2007, Forefront

operated while undercapitalized and failed to transfer all customer accounts and cease doing
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business as 2 FCM, in violation of Commission Regulation 1.17(2)(4), 17 C.F.R.§ 1.17(2)(4). |
(2006). _ |
19. Each day Forefront failed to satisfy its adjusted net capitalization requi;emen;ts, is
alleged as & separate and distinct violations of Section 41(b) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 6f(b), and
Commission Regulation's 1.17(#)(1)(C) and 1.17 (2)(4), 17 CF.R. § 1.17(a)(1)(C) aﬁd 117 (2)@)
(2006). |
B COUNT TWO:
FATLURE TO MAINTAIN BOOKS AND RECORDS
. REQUIRED BY SECTION 4f(a)(1) OF THE ACT
' AND COMMISSION REGULATION 1.18.
20.  The allegations set forth in paragraphs 1 through 19 are re-alleged and i:néorporated
herein by reference. | |
21, Pursuant to Section 4Ka)(1) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 6§a)(1) (2001) and Commission
Regulation 1.18, 17 CFR.§1.18 (2006), Foreéopt is required to maintain records that currently
reflect its assts, liz-xbilities and capital. Because Forefront failed to maintain such records,'it
violated Section 4ﬂaj(l) of the Act and Commission Regulation 1.18.
22. ' Bach day Forefront failed to comply with its recordkeeping requjréments, is alleged.as a
separate and distinct violations of Section 4f(a) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 6£{a), and Cc;mmission
 Regulation 1.13, )7 CF.R. § 1.18 (2006) o
| VI RELIEF REQUESTED
'\?VI*IERJEE.}7 ORE, Plaintiff respecfﬁﬂly requests that ﬂus Court, as authorized by Section 6¢:
of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 13a-1, and pursuant to its own equitable powers, enter: '

a) an Order Against Transfer, Dissipation, and Disposal of Assets
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r;quuing Defendant, its agents, servants, empiofees, attomey's, and persoﬁs in active concert or

. parbcipatlon with it who receive notice of this Order to be restrained and enj omed from directly
or indirectly tra.nsfemng, selling, ahenatmg, liquidating, encumbermg, pledgmg, leasmg,
loaning, assign.ing, concealing, dissipating, converting, withdrawing, or oﬂ:erms_,e disposing of

- any assets, wherever located, including assets held outside the United States, except as c_’therwi.se
ordered by the Court;

b) an Order requiring‘Defendam to close all open &ustomer positions, cease
accepting customcr orders, and to clqse al] proprietary accognts held Sy it with any other fo;ei.gn
currency tra.nsa;cﬁ on entity; - | o

c) a permanent injunction enjoining Defendant from violating Section 4f(a) and (b)
" of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 6f(a) and (b) (2001); and Comnﬁs'sion Regulations 1.l17(a)(1)(C) and (4) |
and 1.18, 17 CE.R. §§ 1.17(a)(1)(¢) and (4) & 1.18 (2006); -

d) an Order directing that Defendant make an accounting to the court of all assets
and liabilities, together with al} the funds received from or sent to l;ersons in connection with the
trading of foreign cuneﬁcy futures contracts; | |

€) an, Order directing Defendant to disgorge, pursuant to such procedure as the Court
may c:u-der all benefits received from the acts or practices which consﬁmfe violations of the Act,
as descnbed hcreln, and mterest thereon from the date of such wolanons,

i)' an Order directing Defendant to make full restitution to every customer whose
funds wére lost as a result of acts and practices which constituted violations of the Act and

- Regulations, described herein, and interest thereon from the date of such violations;
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g) a civil penalty- agamst Defendant in the amount of not more than the thher of
$120,000 or triple the monetary gain to the Defendant for each violation by the Defendant of the -
Act or Regulations after November 2003; and |

h) such other and further remed1a.1 ancillary rehef as the Court may deem

_appropriate. - .

DATED this_Z0)_day of March, 2007.

Respectfully submitted,

CHUCK ROSENBERG |
"UNITED STATES ATTORNEY

. ¢
Robert P. MeIntosh VSB No. 66113
Assistant United States Attomey
Office of the United States Attorney
1800 Main Street Centre

600 East Main Street

Richmond, Virginia 23219

~ (804) 819-5400

Ty D ——
4cey Wingate (provhac vice) '
John Duafee (pro hac vice)
U.S. Commodity Futures Trading Commission
Three Lafayette Centre
1155 21st Street, NW
Washington, DC 20581-
(202) 418-5000 telephone
(202) 418-5538 facsimile

Attomeys for Plaintiff
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